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Three late medieval inventories of the chapel surrounding the shrine of St Edward the Confessor at
Westminster Abbey, London, record the presence of a number of books and pamphlets among the
relics and hirurgical paraphernalia. This article discusses these books, their significance and the
reason for their maintenance at the shrine, and offers possible identifications with several surviving
Manuscripts.
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INTRODUCTION

The shrine of Edward the Confessor (r 1042—66), behind the high altar, formed the most
sacred space within Westminster Abbey (fig 1). The chapel that surrounds it was chosen by
many of the Confessor’s successors, from Henry 111 (r 1216—72) onwards, as their final
resting place, thus creating a royal mausoleum at the heart of the church. In addition, its
sanctity and importance encouraged it as the space in which the abbey’s most holy objects
were stored.”

The collection of relics held by the abbey was unique. It included the shrine itself (a relic
and reliquary in its own right), the Holy Blood relic acquired by Henry 111 and translated to
the abbey with much ceremony in 1247, the girdle of the Virgin given to the church by
Edward the Confessor and a panoply of saintly relics reflecting the patronage of kings and
queens from the tenth century onwards.? In the 1440s, the abbey’s chronicler, Fr John
Flete, diligently listed them as part of his history of the church,3 but the relics were not the
only objects stored in the Confessor’s chapel. In addition to the array of vestments, silver,
textiles and assorted furniture required for worship, a number of books were also kept in
this holy space. While some of them were predictable liturgical works required for divine
office, they included a number of less obvious manuscripts, whose function in this space is
not immediately clear.

1. For the relics stored here, see Luxford 2019. The relics were certainly stored there by 1346, when
offerings to them there are recorded by the sacrist, WAM 19622. They were probably settled
there from much earlier. The sacrist was directed by the 1260s customary to appoint one of the
four sub-sacrists to have care of the high altar and the relics: Thompson 1904, ii, 52.

2. For the holy blood relic (and others), see Vincent 2001.

3. Robinson 1909, 68—73.
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Fig 1. The Shrine of Westminster Abbey. Image: reproduced by kind permission of the Dean and
Chapter of Westminster.

Westminster was not alone in keeping manuscripts in such sacred spaces. At Lichfield,
for example, ‘two very old books which are called the books of St Chad’ were kept at the
shrine.# At Durham, the shrine keeper kept the ‘Book of St Cuthbert’, as well as
the expected psalters and missals, and gospels with copies of the Life of St Cuthbert.5
In 1383—4 the Durham shrine keeper also acquired parchment for ‘chronicles and rolls
and other necessaries’, and the following year paid 17s 5d for the ‘writing of chronicles and

4. Cox 1886, 204. See also Nilson 1998, 52.
5. In 1383—4 he purchased a chain for it: Fowler 1898-1901, ii, 425, 432. I am grateful to Dr John
Jenkins for this reference.
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emending psalters and for nailing rings to the feretory’.® In 1441—2 Durham listed books at
the shrine that included a volume containing excerpts of history, the ‘chronica martini’,
and other ecclesiastical historical material.” At Canterbury, from 1428 the shrine keepers
maintained a customary, bound with two thirteenth-century lives of St Thomas Becket.®
Other books could be kept nearby, often behind the high altar.® But the nature of the books
kept at the Confessor’s shrine, and our ability to identify some of the surviving
manuscripts, makes this a study of particular importance.

INVENTORIES

On 21 December 1467, the Feast of St Thomas the Apostle, the outgoing shrine keeper Fr
Thomas Arundel formally delivered up to his successor, Fr Richard Tedyngton, the
collection of chests, altar furnishings and relics in his custody.’® To witness the agreement,
he compiled an inventory of the objects that were to be handed over to Tedyngton, in the
form of a tripartite indenture."" The urge to formalise the process was doubtless prompted
by the disarray within the monastery following the resignation from active duties of Abbot
Norwich the previous month, on grounds of financial mismanagement.’* In his absence,
the prior, Thomas Millyng, and two senior monks, William Chertsey and John Estney,
were appointed to manage the abbey, until Norwich died two years later, at which point
Millyng could be formally appointed his successor.’3 In addition, the sacrist, Fr Thomas
Ruston, was accused of pilfering and pawning items from the sacristy, possibly in support
of Abbot Norwich, and summarily removed from all offices.™ In the light of such events, it
is perfectly natural that an audit of items at the shrine should be undertaken, and that
Arundel would wish to protect himself from any future charges.

The 1467 inventory is the earliest of such inventories to survive complete, but is
complemented by two later examples, produced in 1479 and 1520."5 In 1467 fourteen
books were recorded by Arundel as being stored within the Confessor’s chapel. All but one

6. Ibid, 425, 441. According to the Liber de Reliquiis, compiled in 1383, books in his custody also
included ‘Gallorum historia’ and ‘liber qui vocatur Polustor hystoriarum, Gaii Julii et ...ini’,
presumably works of Alexander Polyhistor’s historical and geographical works of the ancient
world, together with works of Gaius Julius Hyginus.

7.1Ibid, 471.

8. BL, Add Ms 59616.

9. At St Paul’s Cathedral in the 12th century there were cupboards for books beside the high altar:
Keene er al 2004, 413; the Priory of Christ Church Canterbury likewise kept books above the
high altar from an early date: Collinson er al 1995, 341.

10. There is a curious discrepancy, as Tedyngton is recorded in the sacrist’s accounts as occupying
the position of shrine keeper from 1464 onwards, with no mention of Arundel. Given
Tedyngton’s broken service as warden of the manors of Queen Eleanor (see Appendix 1), it may
be that he relinquished the role briefly in late 1467, during the disruptive period covered below.

11. WAM 9477.

12. See Pearce 1916, 1412, 145-6; Westlake 1923, i, 147-9.

13. For Millyng, see Pearce 1916, 152—3; Emden 1958, 11, 1,282-3.

14. WAM 5456, the notarial instrument for the removal of Abbot Norwich, which cites these charges
against Ruston. Both Tedyngton and Arundel put their names to the deposition. The following
year Ruston removed from Westminster to become prior of Hurley, a dependent of
Westminster: see Smith 2008, 122.

15. Tedyngton’s 1479 inventory, WAM 9478, is printed by Luxford 2019, 227-30; that compiled by
Grene in 1520 is WAM 9485 and is printed in two sections in Westlake 1923, ii, 499—501, 504—5.
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of these are listed in the upper section of the inventory, among the vestments and plate, as
follows:

Also ij massebokys. Also vj bokys for seint Edwardes masse on Sondays to syng on.
Also ij bokys of cronycles on callyd polycronicon & pe oper callyd flores
historiarum. Also a portos of salysbury use. Also ij quayers on with collectes &
gospel for our lady gyrdyll, Anoper of pe relyquys.

The lower section of the inventory, which is concerned with the relics themselves,
includes one further book, ‘a sauter of Seint Edward’.

Twelve years later, the inventory compiled by Tedyngton himself at the end of his term
as shrine keeper follows Arundel’s wording, except that he recorded that the ‘portaus of
Salesbury use, the which was lost by sir Richard Widevyle in pe tyme of pe dan Richard
Tedyngton’. As Julian Luxford has pointed out, the portable breviary had clearly been
made available “for the use of distinguished lay visitors’.’® Sir Richard Woodville, the
‘greedy and grasping’ father of the queen, died on 12 August 1469, so this misadventure
had presumably happened between Tedyngton’s second appointment to the position of
shrine keeper in 1467 and this date, a period when Woodville was Constable of England.”
The circumstances surrounding the disappearance must be a matter of speculation, but it is
perhaps not coincidental that the king’s third daughter (and therefore Woodville’s
granddaughter) was baptised in the abbey soon after her birth in the Palace of Westminster
on 20 March 1469."® The prior, Fr Thomas Millyng, deputing for the dismissed Abbot
Norwich, probably stood godfather to Princess Cecily, just as he was to do the following
year to her brother Edward.™ Woodville’s appropriation of the breviary was perhaps in
character.?° The previous year he had been involved in a legal scandal over the persecution
of the former mayor of London, Sir Thomas Cook. His servants were accused of

16. Luxford 2019, I1I.

17. Ross 1974, 97.

18. The accounts of the warden of the new work record that in 1468—9 four loads of timber for the
scaffold were not available because of the timber left at the baptism of the king’s daughter, WAM
23533*.

19. Pearce 1916, 152—3. Elizabeth Woodville had taken sanctuary in the abbot’s house on 1 Oct 1470,
where she gave birth to her son a month later and had him also baptised in the abbey. Richard
Woodville was by this time dead, but his widow, Jacquetta of Luxemburg, certainly accompanied
her daughter into sanctuary at Westminster and probably attended Edward’s baptism as well:
Pascual 2011, 83.

20. Woodpville was actively seeking out manuscripts at the time. In 1466 he bought in London a
14th-century manuscript of the Romance of Alexander: Bodleian, Ms Bodley 264. He also owned
other manuscripts, including a splendid copy of Jean de Meun, Sept arzicles de la foy, produced in
Rouen in the 1440s, now BL, Royal Ms 19 A. xxii; and a manuscript of Richard Rolle’s
Emendatio vitae together with Hugo Ripelinus, Compendium veritaties theologicae, Bodleian, MS
Bodley 456. His wife, Jacquetta of Luxemburg, owned a copy of Christine de Pizan’s works (BL,
Harley Ms 4431) as well as a copy of Gower’s Confessio Amantis (Pembroke College, MS 307) and,
possibly, a collection of material relating to crusades and the Holy Land, BL, Cotton MS Otho
D.ii; see Pascual 2011, 87-8. A prayerbook, now known as the Prayerbook of Elizabeth of York
but said to have been owned by his daughter Elizabeth Woodpville, is also inscribed “Westminster
abbaye’ twice, suggesting it may have originated or been used there; Stanford University Library,
Codex 0877. Elizabeth also owned a copy of Confessio Amantis (Pierpont Morgan Library, Ms
M.126); see Driver 2009.
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ransacking Cook’s London house, while Cook himself was in prison for treason, and
making off with enormous quantities of expensive cloths and precious jewels and plate.?”

By 1520 the number of relics had grown considerably, but the quantity of books was
reduced. Only one massbook then survived, together with the six books of St Edward’s
mass. But no mention is made of the chronicles, nor the two quires or pamphlets. The loss
of the breviary by Sir Richard Woodpville is no longer required to be recorded. Conversely,
an acquisition had been made in the form of ‘a paper masseboke of Salisbury use, of
William Caxton gyfte’. No mention is made of the psalter among the relics, although
‘an olde sawterboke of parchement’ was then listed among the vestments. The gift by
Caxton of a mass book may have formed part of his will (which does not survive).?? It
probably refers to a copy of the Missale Saresberiense, printed in Paris by Guillame Maynyal
for William Caxton on 4 December 1487.%3

The rather more wide-ranging inventory of the abbey drawn up at the Dissolution, after
all of the relics had gone, makes no mention of books being present in the chapel at all.*4
This is understandable if, as the 1520 list suggests, only liturgical manuscripts remained in
the chapel at that date. These would inevitably have been disposed of swiftly, before the
assessors arrived, as symbols of the saintly cult no longer acceptable. But there is some
evidence that the inventories may not have been the complete audit one might have hoped
for. In 1485 William Caxton recorded in his prologue to La Morte d’Arthur that evidence for
the historical existence of King Arthur could be found in a number of places. Among these
evidential objects was an impression of the seal of the king, which was to be found at the
shrine of St Edward the Confessor at Westminster: ‘in the abbey of westmestre at saynt
Edwardes shrine remayneth the prynte of his seal in reed wax closed in beryl, In which is
wryton Patricius Arthurus Britannie Gallie Germanie dacie Imperator’.?S It is not clear why
such a venerable object was not listed among the items handed on by the shrine keeper in
1479 or 1520. That the seal impression remained at the shrine is attested firstly by John
Rastell in 1530, who had been shown the seal.?® Rastell used it as evidence in his assessment
of the historical existence of Arthur.?’” In 1544 John Leland also recorded a visit to
Westminster to inspect it.>® What the seal’s fate was we do not know, but it is clear that
such an object was to be found in the shrine keeper’s custody from at least the late fifteenth
to the mid-sixteenth century, even if not recorded in the monastery’s inventories. The seal
impression was doubtless produced to provide further evidence for the link between the
coronation church and the symbol of English kingship. This link had already been drawn
upon. After the suppression of the revolt of Llywelyn in Wales in 1283, Edward 1 received

21. For this episode, see Sutton 1978.

22. Caxton bequeathed sixteen copies from his stock of ‘legends’ to his parish church, St Margaret’s
Westminster. These were subsequently sold by the churchwarden: Nixon 1976, 314-17.
In addition, he left copies of The Life of St Katherine and John Lydgate’s Life of Our Lady to the
Fraternity of the Assumption, based in St Margaret’s.

23. ISTC imoo719200. The only near-complete copy of this volume was acquired by the National
Trust in 2008 for Lyme Park. For Caxton’s involvement with Maynyal and importation of books
from France in this period, see Payne 2016, 110-12.

24. TNA, PRO, LR/2/111, fols 8-27; Walcott 1873, 350-2.

25. Crotch 1928, 93. In the early 15th century, the University of Cambridge invented a foundation
myth based on King Arthur, and produced an Arthurian charter as evidence, see Hiatt 2004,
84-8.

26. Ditmas 1964, 29—30.

27. Rastell 1530, 53r-v.

28. Leland 1582, 12—13.
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various treasured relics as tokens of submission, among them the Welsh prince’s crown.
This was purported to be the crown of King Arthur. The following year, Edward’s young
son Alfonso apparently presented the crown and other jewels to the Shrine of the
Confessor.?® What became of this royal relic is unknown; no further mention of it is made.
In early 1440 the abbey’s sacrist, Edmund Kyrton, paid for the embellishment or
replacement of a screen on the west side of the chapel of St Andrew, at the end of the north
transept. This was ornamented by a series of coats of arms, mostly of leading contemporary
political figures (and inserting his own arms among them). The upper register boasted in
the centre the Trinity, with the abbey’s own arms on the left (with King Henry vI’s next),
and those of King Arthur on the right, adjacent to Kyrton’s patron, Duke Humphrey of
Gloucester.3°

Although the 1467 inventory is the earliest complete inventory for the shrine to survive,
that the practice of compiling such documents had a longer history is confirmed by two
fragmentary strips of another inventory that, at some point in the fifteenth century, were
used to form a thin ‘spine’ to support a manuscript of De Scismate, a short treatise on the
schism within the church.3' These fragments come from adjacent strips in the top centre of
the inventory. Although little text remains, there is enough to indicate that the original
document formed an inventory of relics and related items being handed over (liberawvir)
from Fr John Bassingbourne to another monk, only the name ‘Ralph’ of which is shown.
John Bassingbourne joined the abbey in 1387-8, and served as treasurer and kitchener in
1409-14, at which point he disappears from the records (presumably he died, although he
may have moved elsewhere).3?> The recipient was probably Fr Ralph Toneworth, who
entered in 1379-80, and served first as revestziarius (or vestry keeper) in the early 1390s,
sacrist in 1399—-1411, warden of the new work, 1400-11, and died probably in 1420.33 This
would suggest Bassingbourne was handing over to Toneworth in the 1390s, possibly as
revestiarius. Little enough of the inventory itself survives to assist greatly, although there are
mentions of frontals and a grid-iron; a number of largely unidentified saintly bones and
ribs, some kept in purses (demonstrating that, at least at this date, relics were not kept
exclusively in the Confessor’s chapel); cloths and towels and other accoutrements. Since
neither Bassingbourne nor Toneworth served as shrine keeper (see Appendix 1), this
presumably indicates that these were items held at one of the other chapels in the abbey.34

29. However, it is interesting to note that the Westminster chronicle, the Flores Historiarum, while
recording the acquisition of Arthur’s crown by Edward in 1283, makes no mention of its
presentation to the shrine; see Luard 1890, 111, 59. A number of other chronicles follow suit. Itis
the Annales Londinienses that describes Alfonso’s bestowal (‘ornavit’) of the crown and other
jewels to the ‘feretrum Sancti Edwardi’, but calls it only the crown of Llywelyn, making no
mention of King Arthur: Stubbs 1882, 92. For (incomplete) discussions, see L.oomis 1953, 117;
Ditmas 1964, 28.

30. The construction of the screen almost certainly formed part of Kyrton’s successful campaign for
the abbacy, to replace the ailing Abbot Harwedon. The screen was pulled down in ¢ 1723, but
two representations of it have survived, a drawing of 1722 (Westminster Abbey Library,
CN.7.1.32), and a heraldic scheme in the manuscript of the antiquarian Henry Keepe’s
Monumenta Westmonasteriensia, ¢ 1682 (Westminster Abbey Library Ms 45, 141-2).

31. Westminster Abbey Ms 34/2. See Ker 1969, i, 402.

32. See Pearce 1916, 123.

33. Ibid, 116.

34. The inventory might relate to material in the sacristy, except that the inventory drawn up in 1388
makes no mention of relics. The mention of a grid-iron might point to the chapel of St Faith,
who is pictured on the east wall holding one. This chapel, at the south end of the south transept,

https://doi.org/10.1017/50003581524000180 Published online by Cambridge University Press


https://doi.org/10.1017/S0003581524000180

BOOKS KEPT AT THE SHRINE OF EDWARD THE CONFESSOR 7

SHRINE KEEPERS

The office of shrine keeper (custos feretri) and keeper of the relics (custos reliquiarum), terms
which seem to have been used interchangeably, and sometimes in conjunction, was
established at Westminster by at least the mid-thirteenth century.35 He had charge of the
shrine itself, the relics and associated paraphernalia that were housed in the Confessor’s
chapel, and he accounted for the oblations that were received there.3® He also seems to
have managed the oblations received elsewhere in the church, other than at certain
designated altars. Some other duties accrued. From 1352, by decree of the Abbot Simon
Langham, he was to serve a loving cup to the brethren on the Feast of the Translation of St
Edward (13 October).3”7 He was one of the monks overseen by the sacrist, from whom he
generally received an allowance to carry out his duties. This was usually 40s per annum,
double the allowance made over to the sacrist’s other officials, the revestiarius and
subsacrist, which presumably reflected the status of his role.3®

Although the shrine keeper maintained his own accounts, none have survived.3® From a
comparison of office-holders, it is clear that there was a close overlap between the shrine
keeper and the warden of the foundation established by Edward 1 on the death of his wife,
Queen Eleanor (see Appendix 1).4° From the fourteenth century onwards, most holders of
the former role also served as one of the wardens of the latter at the same time, to such an
extent that it seems reasonable to conclude that the two offices were generally thought of as
going together. Given the location of Queen Eleanor’s tomb on the north-eastern side of
the Confessor’s chapel, directly adjacent to the Holy Trinity altar where the relics were
stored, and the primacy afforded to the foundation as the most important such royal fund
to be established after the rebuilding of the abbey church, the connection is
understandable.*'

LITURGICAL MANUSCRIPTS

Westminster Abbey inevitably boasted a large number of liturgical manuscripts, to
maintain divine office at the many altars throughout the church.4* While such books were
usually provided by the precentor, the sacrist appears to have had charge of the upkeep
of many of them, and his accounts make occasional references to these ongoing

was also used as a vestry, so would fit the role of the revestiarius. For this chapel, see Binski and
Guerry 2015.

35. Thompson 1904, 52-3.

36. In the two earliest surviving sacrist’s rolls, for 1318 and 1347, the offerings at the shrine and the
relics (with the high altar) are treated separately. For the levels of offerings, see Nilson 1998,
229-31.

37. Pearce 1916, 93.

38. The sacrist’s accounts record his annual payment, as well as his rendering account for oblations.

39. The sacrist’s accounts make reference to the shrine keeper’s accounts in delivering the oblations;
see for example WAM 19710, where in 1459-60 the sacrist accounted for 100s as oblations
received at the shrine by the account of John Ramsey, ‘keeper there’.

40. For the foundation, see Harvey 2002, 139—41. Elements of the foundation were in fact begun
during Eleanor’s life, see Harvey 1977, 31-2, 393.

41. For Edward 1’s establishment of the fund, see Calendar of Charter Rolls, 11, 411.

42. See Pfaff 2009, 227-36.
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costs.®3 In 1388, after the sacristy had been rebuilt, an inventory was compiled by Fr
Richard Cirencester, Fr William Sudbury, Fr John Breynt and Fr Ralph Tonworth.44 In
this are listed seventeen ‘missals and other books’, along with a number of well-
ornamented copies of the gospels (zexrus).45 Foremost among the service books was the
Litlyngton Missal (‘unum bonum wmissale et grande ex dono quondam Nicholai Lytlington
abbatis’), compiled at the abbey in 1383—4 for use in major services (fig 2).4% The sacristy
housed other missals, including one given by Abbot William Curtlyngton (abbot 1315-33),
and another by Fr John Mordon in 1354/5.47 Since all of these were valuable manuscripts,
there was at least one other missal for daily use at the high altar.4® Other service books listed
include two psalters, one the gift of Henry 111, and the second ‘cum diversis ymaginibus
depictis post kalendare’. The latter can be identified as the Westminster Psalter (fig 3),* a
book of various liturgical elements, including prayers, calculations for Easter, litany and a
calendar (fols sr—10v) with the Feast of St Edward written in gold. A benedictional listed
may well be in the Bodleian Library, Oxford,>° a fourteenth-century pontifical, with ordines
and benedictions on a range of activities, including coronations, baptism and
consecrations.>" In 1399 a ‘great new book’ was made for the middle of the choir. This
was funded by a number of the monks, with Fr Elmin Merston entering the musical
notation himself. Using the money contributed, the sacrist acquired sixty-one skins of

43. Thompson 1904, 49. At Westminster we are greatly hindered in our understanding of the role of
books within the church by the entire absence of the records of the precentors, see Harvey 2002,
129-30.

44. For the sacristy, see Payne and Foster 2020. The inventory is now Canterbury Cathedral,
Canterbury, MS Y.ax. It was printed in Legg 1890. It is notable that the inventory was not drawn
up by the sacrist, Fr Peter Combe, suggesting a level of external oversight of the office.
Cirencester was the senior monk, being at the time refectorer; Sudbury was not long returned
from his studies in Oxford; Breynt was only just promoted ‘ad skillam’; while Tonworth was the
only one directly involved in the workings of the sacristy, being then revestiarius; see Pearce
1916, 24—5, 100, 113—14, 116.

45. Legg 1890, 39—41.

46. Westminster Abbey MS 37. An edition of the missal was published in Legg 1891—6. For the
Litlyngton Missal more generally, see Sandler 1986, ii, 172—5; Tudor-Craig 1998; Wackett 2014.
Reflecting the personal nature of the book, the compilation of the missal was paid for through the
abbot’s treasurer, not the sacrist (WAM 24265%). This included £4 6s 8d for parchment alone,
£22 os 3d for illuminations of the large letters and £4 to Thomas Preston for scribal work. In
1509, in readiness for either the funeral of Henry viI or the coronation of Henry viII, it was
lavishly rebound by the sacrist, at a cost of 4s 8d for the binding work, 2s 5d for the buck skin and
12d for two red skins for the lining, WAM 19764. Three years earlier, the volume had been
mended and new clasps affixed, WAM 19761.

47.In 1354/5 Morden’s accounts as sacrist record the payment of £11 3s for ‘a missal made for the
high altar at his own expense’, WAM 19623. Although less than a third of the cost of the
Litlyngton Missal, this must still have been a lavish production.

48. Inevitably these regularly-used volumes required frequent repair. In 1387/8, 5s was spent on
repair for the missal and a lectionary (WAM 19645); 8s 8d for binding work in 1443/4 (WAM
19692); 16s 6d for general repairs in 1497/8 (WAM 19752); and various binding work to books at
the high altar in 1526/7 (WAM 19796).

49. BL, Royal Ms 2 A.xxii.

50. Bodleian, Ms Rawl.C.425.

5I.In the early 16th century, Fr Thomas Brown added his name. Brown was professed at
Westminster in 1485—6, and occupied various positions, including warden of the manors of
Queen Eleanor from 1508, before his death in 1513—14; Pearce 1916, 171—2. Brown may have
acquired the book when a new benedictional was compiled for regular use in 1491/2, which the
sacrist paid to have bound and fitted with clasps (WAM 19741).
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Fig 2. Litlyngton Missal, Westminster Abbey MS 37. Image: reproduced by kind permission of the
Dean and Chapter of Westminster.

vellum, costing 28s 6d, and commissioned John Hervyngton to do the scribal work and
John Fouler the illumination. The overall cost of the volume was £5 10s 8d.5* A further
contribution of 6s 8d was made by John Godmerston (d 1401), the king’s clerk of the works
for the major project at Westminster Hall, and recently-appointed chancellor of St Paul’s.33

52. WAM Muniment Book 1, fol g2r.

53. For his appointment as chancellor in 1397, see CPR 13969, 67; Horn 1963, 19. For his
appointment as clerk of the works in 1394, see CPR 1391-6, 348—9. He already had experience of
overseeing building works during his time as canon of Hereford Cathedral, CCR 1385-9, 535. In
1396 he was also appointed the office of chamberlain of the Exchequer of Receipt, CPR 13916,
695, and he was later given various prebends and benefices. He was one of the executors of John
Gilbert, Bishop of St David’s, CCR 1399-1402, 121. In April 1399 he was rewarded for his
service at Westminster with a canonry at St Stephen’s Chapel: Biggs 2016, 285. He purchased
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Fig 3. Westminster Psalter, BL, Royal Ms 2 A.xxii. Iimage: courtesy British Library.

All of these were high status manuscripts for use at the high altar and for major services,
and stored, when not in use, in the sacristy. They are separate from those items in the
custody of the shrine keeper in the fifteenth century. Indeed, most of the items listed in
1388 can be identified as still being stored there when the assessors came in 1540, although
inevitably new books had been added in the intervening century and a half. This included a
‘gospell booke’ compiled by Fr John Langham, who entered the monastery in 1501/2, and
himself served as shrine keeper in 1528, and a copy of the Liber Regalis (‘Boke of

books of his own: five liturgical books (and possibly other non-liturgical) from the estate of
Thomas of Woodcock for the large sum of £24, including a missal at £8 and a breviary at £10, as
well as a pair of silver basins: Stratford 2010, 16871, and 2012, 410. These sums suggest
manuscripts at least as lavish as those being acquired by the abbey itself.

54. Pearce 1916, 179.
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Coronacyons of Kynges’), although not the copy now among the abbey collections.5>
Some of these books occasionally required attention. In 1391/2 35s 8d was expended by Fr
Ralph Toneworth in mending a gospel;3° in 1395/6 15s was spent for parchment for a
processional, and 7s 7d for compiling a small book of collects;57 in 1440/1 20d for mending
a rexta ferialis at the high altar;>® in 1453/4 4s 10d for mending a martyrology with collects;
in 1462/3 2s for binding a lectionary;®° in 1470/1 2s 6d to the goldsmith Simon Goldsmith

for mending two lectionaries (presumably reflecting ornate bindings), along with pontifical

rings and one ‘owche’;®' in 1507/8 supplying parchment for repairing lectionaries and

gospels;®? in 1526/7 6s 8d for binding various books belonging to the high altar;®3 and in
1517/8 6s for binding lectionaries and gospels.® Necessary liturgical alterations were also
covered. In 1484/5 the sacrist paid 14d ‘for writing the mass of the Visitation of the Virgin
Mary in the missal belonging to the high altar’, and three years later 8d for ‘writing the new
history of the Transfiguration’ in the same missal.’

Some of these ‘lesser’ liturgical books, or fragments of them, may have survived. In the
late fifteenth century, and certainly before 1503, a folio from a fourteenth-century breviary
was cut up and used as an endpaper for a copy of the Gospel of Nichodemus by Fr John
Holond (fig 4);% a bifolium of a twelfth-century service book was converted into a wrapper
for a set of sixteenth-century accounts of the prior (fig 5);7 and a leaf of a psalter was
used as an endleaf on a collection of material relating to appropriations of churches
belonging to the abbey, compiled by Fr Thomas Jaye as treasurer, which office he held
from 1514—28 (fig 6).%%

The abbot maintained his own personal service books. In 1475/6, Abbot Estney, who
had retained his role as sacrist, paid 2s 4d for ‘a binding for the abbot’s book of collects’.%®

55. Westminster Abbey Ms 38. This copy is not recorded at the abbey before the 17th century, and
was only placed into the care of the librarian in 1764 (WAM 51191). The secundo folio reference
given in the 1540 inventory demonstrates that the copy at the abbey then was not the same. For
this manuscript, see Binski 1995, 194—5, and 1997.

56. WAM 19650.

57. WAM 19655.

58. WAM 19683.

59. WAM 19704.

60. WAM 19711.

61. WAM 19717.

62. WAM 19763.

63. WAM 19796.

64. WAM 19776.

65. WAM 19730 and WAM 19735. For the development of these new feasts, see Pfaff 1970, 13-61.

66. Lambeth Palace Library, Ms Arc.L..40.2/E.25. Holond (d 1503) was professed in 1468—9, and
acted as shrine keeper 1482-8. See Pearce 1916, 162.

67. WAM 33328. The book contains receipts and payments mostly made by the prior’s assistants
and servants, originally by Prior William Walsh in the 1440s, and then reused by Prior William
Mane in the first decade of the 16th century. It is not clear when the wrapper was added.

68. WAM Muniment Book 3. Only a single leaf of the psalter is now present, not, as recorded
by Robinson and James 1909, 98, two leaves. For Jaye, see Pearce 1916, 178. Jaye was given a
13th-century copy of Distinctiones fratriis Mauricii (Bodleian, Ms Bodley 46) by Fr Robert
Humfrey before the latter’s death on 13 Feb 1509, possibly while Jaye was still studying at
Oxford, see Pearce 1916, 172; Emden 1974, 316.

69. WAM 19723. However, there was clearly no firm rule about which account such work should
come from. On 8 Jul 1496, the abbot’s treasurer recorded the payment of 2s 8d for binding the
abbot’s portiphory, WAM 33291.
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Fig 4. Fragment of the Gospel of Nichodemus. Image: courtesy Lambeth Palace Library,
Ms Arc.L.40.2/E.25.

In 1491/2 he paid 3s 4d for binding ‘a new psalter for the lord abbot’ (ie himself).7° Estney
evidently retained an interest in books beyond the liturgical to his last years, illustrating the
increasingly frequent appearance of personal books among the monks. On 25 January 1497
he acquired a copy of Alexander of Aphrodisias’ De Anima for 5s, along with Johannes
Canonicus’ Quaestiones super Physica Aristotelis for 4s.7" On 1 October 1496 Estney had also

70. WAM 19741. Other surviving books might be associated with Abbot Estney. BL, Add Ms 10106
is a compendium of religious and historical material, including a treatise on the ‘manor and
fourme of the coronacion of Kynges and Queenes of England’ that may well have been his. In the
1520s Fr John Felix wrote a short life of Abbot Estney in a humanist script unusual for
Westminster Abbey: BL, Cotton MS Claudius A.viii, fols 64v—65r.

71. WAM 33291, fol 19r. The prices would suggest that these were both printed versions of the
works. An edition of Alexander of Aphrodisias had been published in Brescia by Bernadinus
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Fig 5. Fragment of a twelfth-century service book, used as a wrapper for WAM 33328.
Image: reproduced by kind permission of the Dean and Chapter of Westminster.

acquired ‘uno libro vocato Johannes de Magistrum’, for Richard Dudley, possibly a
member of his household.”? One of Estney’s successors, Abbot John Islip, owned the
prayerbook shown in fig 7 and a late fifteenth-century collection of prayers and

de Misintis on 13 Sept 1495 (ISTC ia00386000); and a number of editions of Johannes
Canonicus had been produced, including one by the St Alban’s printer in 1481 (ISTC
1j00264000).

72. WAM 33291, fol 13r. The book was presumably a copy of Johannes de Magistris, Quaestiones
super tota philisophia naturali, which was published in a number of editions. Dudley may have
been related to William Dudley, Bishop of Durham, who was buried in the chapel of St Nicholas
at Westminster Abbey in 1483. In 1492 Dudley’s former chaplain, John Veysy, by now settled in
Oxford, bequeathed to Estney, along with a bible and a Liber Concordanciarum, a large four-
volume edition of Nicholas de Lyra’s Commentaries, so that the abbot might place it in a
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Fig 6. Leaf of a psalter, recycled as endpaper, WAM Muniment Book 3. Iimage: reproduced by kind
permission of the Dean and Chapter of Westminster.

hymns,”3 drawn from a breviary, and largely related to the Virgin Mary and St Edward,
possibly formed, in Pfaff’s words, ‘a private liturgical vade mecum’.74

The separate maintenance of books devoted to a specific area within the church was
not unique. The warden of the LLady Chapel had responsibility for the books at the altar
there.’5 In 1386—7 the infirmarer paid for the compilation of a new missal, including colours

convenient place for the monks to study, and thereby be prompted to pray for the soul of William
Dudley: TNA, PRO, PROB 11/9/138.

73. John Rylands Library, Manchester, Ms Lat. 165; Bodleian, Ms Rawlinson liturg. g.10.

74. See Pfaff 2009, 229n.

75. For this office, see Harvey 2002, 95-6. In 1393/4, for example, he paid 7s 10d for binding and
extending a book of polyphonic music (‘ibrum organicum’), which had been given by a previous
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Fig 7. Prayerbook of Abbot John Islip, John Rylands Library, Ms Lat. 165. Image: provided by The
John Rylands Research Institute and Library, The University of Manchester.

warden, Fr Richard Wynwyk (WAM 23193); in 1491—2 he paid 9s 4d for binding, ‘pesyng’
(ie piecing or mending) and repairing four graduals, and for mending and ‘pesyng’ the missal at
the altar (WAM 23263); in 15212, 6s 8d ‘for binding four books’, probably the graduals (WAM
23298); and in 1527-8 he paid 8s 6d for binding and mending the missal (WAM 23304). In 1483
the outgoing warden of the Lady Chapel, Fr Thomas Clifford, drew up an inventory of material
in his possession to hand over to his successor, Fr John Stanes (WAM 9479). This included one
massbook; a pricksong book; four grail books; three ‘olde bookes’, one of which was pricksong,
the other two plainsong; and two quires of plainsong, one for the service of the Visitation and the
other of the Oblation of the Virgin. Stanes himself owned at least two books, a copy of Thomas
Aquinas, De Veritate (Trinity College, Cambridge, MS 0.8.30); and of David of Augsburg’s
Forma Religiosorum (Balliol College, Oxford, Ms 264). This last was perhaps acquired to replace
the copy formerly owned by John Breynt, but which at about this time was removed to Hereford.
See Harvey 2002, 72.
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Fig 8. Fragment of an antiphonal in honour of St Edward the Confessor, WAM 33327A.
Image: reproduced by kind permission of the Dean and Chapter of Westminster.

and illumination by the limner Thomas Rolf (who had probably also worked on the
Litlyngton Missal), and for binding.”® None of the liturgical books itemised in the shrine
keepers’ inventories can be positively identified, and the lack of the office’s accounts
dramatically reduces our knowledge of them. The only fragment that might correspond is a
single bifolium, removed from its original quire and used as a wrapper for a set of accounts
of the kitchener, Fr John Campion for 1516-17 and his successor, Fr Robert Callowe
(fig 8).77 When the wrapper was added is not clear. Callowe continued as kitchener until

76. WAM 19370. He had also received a portable breviary from Abbot Litlyngton, which he paid 7s
6d to have covered. For Rolf, see Christianson 1990, 153—4.

77. The accounts are WAM 33327; the wrapper has been removed and is now WAM 33327A. For
Campion and Callowe, see Pearce 1916, 179—80.
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1520, and served again in 1523—33. In the intervening years between his two periods in
office, the role was filled first by William Overton (1520-1) and then Thomas Gardyner
(1521—2). The accounts compiled by Overton,”® inherited by Gardyner, were also covered
in a wrapper of waste material at some point after 1521, almost certainly by Thomas
Gardyner. The wrapper for this item included various stray items as well as a surviving copy
of a work probably composed by Gardyner and printed by Pynson ¢ 1512, The Gardyners
Passetaunce.” Gardyner clearly engaged in rather amateur rebinding, and it is possible that
he was also responsible for the rebinding of WAM 33327.%°

The bifolium itself forms two folios from an antiphonal, bearing choral music
specifically in honour of St Edward the Confessor.?' This would fit the broad description of
a book for St Edward’s mass ‘to syng on’. Although the fragment bears no feature that
definitely places it in the Confessor’s chapel, it is conceivable that it originated there. It was
evidently a sumptuous manuscript, decorated in gold leaf, and apparently produced for
choral performance in honour of St Edward. If so, it must have been dismembered after
1520, when all of the St Edward material in the shrine was still present. Why the manuscript
was deemed surplus to requirements well before the Dissolution is not clear. Relatively
little work appears to have been going on around the shrine in this period,?* but the
presence of fragments being reused as waste binding and wrappers in several instances at
the abbey, apparently in the 1520s, may be more than coincidence.

Flores Historiarum

The most surprising volumes in the inventories are the two chronicles. The Flores
Historiarum was one of the key historical productions of the thirteenth century. The text
was first compiled by Matthew Paris at St Albans, and continued by other monks there
down to 1259.%3 References in the text to Westminster Abbey suggest that Matthew Paris
always intended the manuscript to go to Westminster, perhaps as an offering to the king’s
rebuilt church. This finally seems to have happened in 1265, four years before the
rededication of the abbey.?4 Between 1259 and 1265 the text appears to have been compiled
at Pershore Abbey, suggesting a delay between the death of Matthew Paris and its arrival at

78. WAM 333209.

79. See Payne and Boffey 2017.

80. There is little likelihood of the ‘rebinding’ having happened much later. There would have been
no point in going to such lengths for an archival record of no further intrinsic value. Indeed, the
fact that it was retained at all is remarkable. For such record keeping, see Harvey 2002, xlvii-liv.

81. Lefferts 2012, 72—3.

82. See Rodwell and Neal 2019, ii, 621. Is it possible that the old manuscript copies were being
superseded by new, readily available printed versions?

83. See Carpenter 2012; Mortimer 2015, 292-3.

84. Other books entered the abbey at the same time, several under the auspices of Fr William
Haseley. These included a collection of treatises, formularies and collections relating to letter
writing and diplomatic precedents, including the monastic rules of Abbot Crokesley (1246—58),
produced after 1246 (BL, Add Ms 8167); and a miscellany of theological works, produced in the
mid-13th century (St John’s College, Oxford, Ms 190). Both are inscribed with Haseley’s name.
The former was probably used by Haseley in the compilation of the abbey’s customary in 1266,
which he undertook on Abbot Ware’s instructions (BL, Cotton Ms Otho C.xi). Little more is
known of Haseley, except that he served as subprior; see Pearce 1916, 56.
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Fig 9. Flores Historiarum. Image: courtesy Chetham Library, Ms 6712.

its intended home.?S After it reached Westminster, monks there took up the chronicle and
carried it on in various stages, and in various manuscript copies, resulting in a complicated
textual history.

The resulting chronicle survives in numerous manuscripts, indicating its rapid
dissemination and significance.®® However the exemplar, on which the others were
originally based, contains sections in the hand of Matthew Paris himself, along with several
other monks of St Albans (fig 9).87 This is presumably the manuscript that was at
Westminster by ¢ 1265.%% As an offering from St Albans, it may have been viewed with
particular reverence. After 1265, Westminster monks, including Robert de Reading, added
continuations to the text up until early 1326.%° Thereafter this particular manuscript
contains only a couple more folios that continue the chronicle for a year until the accession
of Edward 11, at which point it breaks off. Further continuation of the chronicle was

85. For the role of Pershore, see Carpenter 2012.

86. See Collard 2008. By the mid-14th century, Norwich Cathedral owned a copy that was known as
the ‘Cronica Westmonaster’, now Bodleian, MS Fairfax 20, see Sharpe et al 1996, 303.

87. Chetham Library, Ms 6712. see Hollaender 1944.

88. Although the abbey’s collections do currently contain a copy of this manuscript (Westminster
Abbey Ms 24) this is a later acquisition. See Robinson and James 1909, 82—3.

89. Robert de Reading died in 1317, but the manuscript includes a note at this change of hands for
1326 that this was the point that Robert de Reading concluded. The successive stages of
composition are extremely complicated. See Pearce 1916, 91—2; Tout 1916, 450-1.
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compiled at Westminster in a separate manuscript, written by Fr John de Reading in the
1360s.9° This latter extension survives now only in a mid-fifteenth-century copy, but in its
original form John de Reading appears to have copied his text from the exemplar
manuscript from 1299, with portions of another continuation from 1327 to 1345 added on.
The section from 1346 to 1367 was compiled by John de Reading himself. John de
Reading’s suitability for the task may have been enhanced by his appointment as shrine
keeper. He was certainly holding this position in 1363—4, when he also arranged for new
iron chains for the feretory.®" In his history, Reading is at pains to record the donation by
Edward 111 in 1363 of vestments in which St Peter had celebrated mass, relics which he, as
shrine keeper, would have taken charge.®? In 1359, together with two other monks, he had
helped to compile an inventory of the regalia of Edward the Confessor (themselves forms of
relics), possibly in the same capacity.?3 That this inventory was drawn up on the day after
the Feast of the Relics (16 July), and that it specifies that one of its aims was to record those
things that had gone missing since before the Black Death ten years earlier, are surely
telling. Absences from the relics would have been most notable at the feast when they were
displayed (fig 10). And the shrine keeper, just as a century later, would have been
concerned to demonstrate that these losses had not occurred during their office. At some
point Reading also paid £20 for the construction of a screen or railing (clausura) at the altar
of the Holy Trinity, on the eastern side of the shrine where the relics had come to be
stored.®* All of which demonstrates that he was deeply involved in the shrine and its
accoutrements in the decade before his death in 1368/9.95 No Westminster copy of the
Flores continues beyond 1367, and attention among the monks evidently turned to
other texts.%

Ownership inscriptions within the original manuscript of the Flores” demonstrate its
presence at Westminster for a prolonged period. At the foot of the beginning and end of the
calendar, a fourteenth-century hand has written ‘iste liber e ecclie beati petri Westm’. The
calendar has been heavily annotated with the dates of coronations and royal deaths, and, in
one instance, the death of a Westminster abbot, as if it were important to have the details of
those anniversaries easily accessible. While most of these dates were relatively recent, the
death in 975 of King Edgar, a great benefactor of the abbey, and in whose reign
Westminster was founded by St Dunstan, is also included. The latest date to appear is the
coronation of Henry vI as king of France in 1431 (the last coronation or death of a monarch
until 1461). On the final flyleaf, numerous notes and jottings have been added, at the foot of

90. BL, Cotton Ms Cleopatra A.xvi, fols 69r-195v. Printed in Tait 1914. The manuscript is now
bound with a 15th-century copy of the Dialogus de Scaccario (fols 1r—68v), but the manuscripts
were only combined in the 17th century, see Tait 1914, 19—22.

91. WAM 19629. The sacrist paid 6s for them. These were probably the ‘cheyne of yron pat tyme to
fasten the same shrynes’ in 1479, used to secure the relics at the time of the Feast of Relics; the
various shrines and reliquaries were set upon ‘iij long stoles’.

92. Tait 1914, 153. He also records the gift by the same king in 1352 of the head of St Benedict,
ibid, 120.

93. WAM 51113, printed in Robinson 1909, 19. In many ways one might compare this inventory
with those of 1467, 1479 and 1520. One of the other monks who compiled the list, Fr John de
Bokenhull, was warden of the manors of Queen Eleanor from 1357—62, so he may actually have
held the position of shrine keeper at this time, see Pearce 1916, 97.

94. WAM Muniment Book 1, fol 92v.

95. WAM 19346.

96. See Mortimer 2015, 292—3.

97. Chetham Library, MS 6712.
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Fig 10. Polychronicon, Bodleian, MS Bodley 341. Image: courtesy Bodleian Libraries, University of
Oxford.

which appears the name ‘R Teddynton’, the shrine keeper from 1467. It seems probable
that this manuscript was the one Tedyngton recorded at the shrine, although it should be
pointed out that, in addition to John de Reading’s continuation, the abbey owned at least
one other copy of the text.9® By the second half of the fifteenth century, monks certainly
also owned books in a private capacity.®® In fact, Tedyngton himself had in his keeping

98. Now BL, Cotton MS Otho C.ii. This manuscript was badly burnt in the Cotton fire. It was
compiled in the last quarter of the 14th century.

99. In 1468, John Halstede, abbot of Walden Abbey, sued William Grey, the bishop of Ely,
for detinue in the Court of Common Pleas over a copy of a book called ‘the Flour of Storyes’,
suggesting the occasional circulation of the text among religious at the time: TNA, PRO,
CP40/826.
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more than one book, including a collection of medical texts,'° which he inscribed ‘Ecclesie
Petri Westm. R Tedyngton monachi’, and a fifteenth-century copy of Ovid’s
Metamorphoses.”* All of which suggests in him a wide range of interests. But the primacy
afforded to Flores Historiarum as the original text,”®? including as it does the hand of
Matthew Paris himself, would have recommended it as the copy to be kept at the most
sacred part of the abbey. Although its presence there by 1467 does not prove a continuous
location for the previous two centuries, it is tempting to imagine that the gift of such a
manuscript from St Albans (even if via Pershore) in time for the reconstruction of the
shrine and rededication of the abbey in 1269, might indicate an original intention for the
manuscript to be kept in the Confessor’s chapel. If so, John de Reading’s position as shrine
keeper in the 1360s would have provided him with ready access to the text.

The absence from the list of 1520 of the abbey’s Flores may be explained in part by
another ownership inscription just above Tedyngton’s. Here has been written ‘Duompnus
T Gardener anno dm 1503 et anno rr henrici 7 18° in vigilia ] baptist’. Fr Thomas Gardyner
was at the time a junior monk in the monastery, but he had royal connections and was a
budding writer of Tudor propaganda.’®> He had entered Westminster in 1493—4, and in
1503 was apparently in the service of the prior, William Mane.'* What prompted him to
write his name in of one of the books at the shrine on 24 June (the Feast of St John the
Baptist, one of the quarter days) is not clear. The king and Abbot Islip’s great project to
rebuild the Lady Chapel had got underway at the beginning of the year, interrupted almost
immediately by the death of the queen, Elizabeth of York. Her burial in the abbey on 23
February was a vast, solemn occasion, at which the whole house was present. The following
month the abbey was formally granted the house of St Martin Le Grand as part of the
arrangement to fund the works.'5 Perhaps Gardyner’s writing career, that was to produce
at least two works for which the Flores Historiarum might prove useful (the Flowers of
England and the Gardyner’s Passetaunce), began at an early stage.’®® Gardyner himself was
clearly in high esteem. Within two years he was to take a leading role in the arrangements
for the temporary chantry of the king’s mother, Lady Margaret Beaufort.’°7 He is not listed
as shrine keeper in 1503, that office being then held by Fr Richard Caxton. Caxton died
sometime in the year 1503—4, and was replaced by Fr Martin James in mid-year.’°® At about
the same time it evidently became apparent that the duties of the shrine keeper were
increasing, and from the following year two keepers are recorded accounting for the
offerings.’®® Unfortunately, from this point, they are not named, but the specific recording

100. Trinity College, Cambridge, Ms O.7.37.

101. Balliol College, Oxford, MS 142, missing since the 17th century. For this latter manuscript, see
Mynors 1963, 121.

102. Chetham Library, MS 6712.

103. For Gardyner, see Payne and Boffey 2017.

104. WAM 33288, miscellaneous account book of Prior Mane.

105. WAM 13193.

106. In 1516 Gardyner produced a short pedigree, perhaps in preparation for his longer works, of the
lineage of Henry vi1 (and by extension, his own): BL, Cotton MS Julius F.ix, fol 24r. It was at
this date, on the dedication of the Lady Chapel, that he was appointed one of its chantry priests.

107. Payne 2020. Gardyner’s ‘reward’ for his service was an early appointment by the Crown as prior
of Blythe, on 20 May 1507: see Emden 1958, 11, 743; Smith 2008, 165.

108. WAM 19759.

109. WAM 19760. This presumably reflected increased activity at the altars at the shrine while the
Lady Chapel was a building site. In this period, Lady Margaret Beaufort switched her chantry to
the other Marian altar, that of Our Lady of the Pew, see Payne 2020. But she had also provided
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of the major feast day by Gardyner in his inscription suggests a formal appointment
to office, possibly as chantry priest or second shrine keeper in the Confessor’s chapel.
Fr Martin James was probably frail, as he died in late 1504. It is quite plausible that
Gardyner’s inscription coincides with him taking on responsibility at the shrine that
involved him in keeping the books, books which he would find useful in his own historical
compositions.

Polychronicon

The other historical text listed in the fifteenth-century inventories was the Polychronicon.
The Polychronicon, first composed by Ranulph Higden, a monk of St Werburgh in Chester,
survives in more than 100 manuscripts, and was, together with the Brut, the most popular
version of English history in circulation.”™ No surviving manuscript can definitely be
associated with Westminster Abbey, but it is clear that the abbey owned multiple copies. In
1375-6, the treasurers, Fr John de Lakyngheath and Fr William Colchester, purchased for
£4 a ‘book called the Polychronicon’.™ This large sum presumably reflects a deluxe
manuscript. In 1396/7 Fr Richard Exeter bequeathed a copy of the Polychronicon ‘cum libro
Marci Pauli’ to Westminster Abbey.''3 Several extant copies of the Polychronicon are found
bound with manuscript versions of Francesco Pipino’s work on Marco Polo,™4 but the first
of these is a large manuscript compendium, with the Polychronicon almost an afterthought
at the end, which possibly originated in Evesham;''5 the second contains only those two
works, but with the Pipino first; and the last also contains multiple texts, and appears to
have come from Norwich Priory. While the shrine keepers’ inventories are clearly not full
bibliographical lists, they contain no mention of any work bound with the Polychronicon,
and it seems more likely that the copy kept there was a stand-alone text.

A fourteenth-century copy of the short recension™® contains several additional notes
and marginalia, including a description of Henry III’s procession to Westminster Abbey
with the Holy Blood in 1247 (fol 133r; fig 11), added from a later recension.”'7 A note at the
end of the text appears to direct the reader to what may be the final part of a paper

for masses to be said in the Confessor’s chapel since 1496. Although Henry viI stipulated masses
to be held under the lantern, around the hearse of his queen, he also appointed additional
chantry priests to sing mass at the shrine, see Condon 2003, 89.

110. As such, one suspects that Gardyner was likely to have been responsible for the book’s removal
from the Confessor’s chapel before the 1520 inventory.

111. See Taylor 1966; Freeman 2013.

112. WAM 19867. See Hector and Harvey 1982, xxxii. In the same year, they paid £4 to send a missal
to Cardinal Langham (former abbot of Westminster, then at Avignon) by order of the prior,
Richard de Merston. Langham bequeathed an extensive collection of books to the abbey,
although they did not include a missal; see Sharpe et al 1996, 613—26. Merston himself travelled
to Avignon on Langham’s death in 1376, and brought back the books and other effects left to the
abbey. It did include some other chronicle material.

113. WAM 6603. See Sharpe et al 1996, 627—9.

114. Including Cambridge University Library, Ms Dd.I.17 and Ms Dd.VIII.7; BL, Royal Ms 14 C.xiii.
Later copies also include Bodleian, Ms Digby 196. See Hector and Harvey 1982, xli—xlii. I am
grateful to Dr James Freeman for discussing his work on these manuscripts with me.

115. For this manuscript’s possible origins, see Hanna 2017.

116. Bodleian, Ms Bodley 341. See Taylor 1966, 98n, 122n; Freeman 2013.

117. Noted in Luxford 2019, 214 n 42.
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Fig 11. The Feast of the Relics, from the Litlyngton Missal, Westminster Abbey MS 37. Image:
reproduced by kind permission of the Dean and Chapter of Westminster.

manuscript containing the Westminster Chronicle® along with other continuations to the

Polychronicon assembled by Archbishop Parker in the sixteenth century: ‘reliqua de isto
Edwardo 111 vide infra in papero in fine libri’."*® Since Polychronicon ends at 1327 (very close
to the point that the abbey’s Flores ends), this points the reader to the continuation of the
history, which takes the chronicle on to 1394, and assumes that the reader had access to
both texts. If so, it is possible that these two texts were both to be found at Westminster.

PAMPHLETS

The fifteenth-century inventories list two quires or pamphlets. The first contained collects
and gospel texts ‘for our lady girdyll’, a major abbey relic kept at the shrine. As Luxford
says, ‘perhaps the pamphlet was used on the feast of the Assumption (15 August), when the

118. Corpus Christi College, Cambridge, Ms 197A, fols 109r-213v. For this manuscript, see
Robinson 1907.
119. For the Westminster Chronicle, see Hector and Harvey 1982.
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Virgin Mary was supposed to have dropped her girdle into the hand of the apostle
Thomas’.”?° No surviving manuscripts have been identified that fit the description. The
second of the smaller pamphlets is described as being only ‘of pe relyquys’. Luxford
suggests quite understandably that this item might either have been associated with the
Feast of Relics on 16 July, or have formed a ‘comprehensive, self-contained relic list’, but
the description is vague, and it is equally plausible that it was a text concerning the history
and significance of the relics in the shrine keeper’s care.

Until 1916 a manuscript™' held by the Society of Antiquaries formed part of a larger
composite manuscript with a complicated history. Its contents were generally concerned
with heraldry, and dated from the fourteenth to sixteenth centuries. According to an
internal note, in the early eighteenth century it formed part of the joint library of Lord
Keeper Sir Nathan Wright (1654—-1721) and Master of the Rolls Sir Joseph Jekyll (1662—
1738), but Nathan Wright’s library of books and manuscripts at Caldecote was bequeathed
by him to his son William Wright, with no mention of Joseph Jekyll.’>* Sir Joseph Jekyll
acquired most of his manuscripts from his brother-in-law, John Somers (1651-1716)."23
Since the manuscript was presented to the Society of Antiquaries in 1796 by Joseph Jekyll
FSA, Sir Joseph’s great nephew, an origin in Baron Somers’ library seems more likely.">4 In
1916 it was rebound in four parts. It is a fairly large volume, measuring 15” x 10”. What is
now SAL Ms 136C comprises fourteenth-century material, combining notes on the family
and descent of William Marshall (fols 1r—3v); a register of Roger de Mortuo for 1355; two
documents concerning the sergeantry of Meath of 1353 (fols 4r—v); a transcript of the Black
Book of the Exchequer (fols sr—26v); and portions of a fourteenth-century cartulary (fols
37r—8v). At the foot of fol 36v is a fifteenth-century inscription, erased but visible under UV
light, reading ‘Liber ecclesie sancti Pauli London’. After this, there is a small separate
quire, fols 39r—42v formed of two additional bifolia, with no apparent connection with the
earlier parts of the volume. This quire has been folded back on itself to be stitched into the
volume, so that fol 41r would originally have formed the first page, and fol 4ov the last.

On the blank folio that originally formed the opening of the collection (fol 41r), another
erased inscription can be made out under UV light (fig 12). This reads: ‘Liber de feretro Sci
Edwardi Regis & confessoris ex procuracione fratris Iohannis Breynt anno regni regis
Ricardi secundo post conquestum xxiii. cuius anime propicietur deus Amen.’ Fr John
Breynt entered Westminster Abbey in 1373.725 He served as both treasurer and kitchener in
1391-3. In 1393 he was appointed both treasurer of the manors of Queen Eleanor, and
shrine keeper, replacing in both roles Fr John London."® He died in the winter of 1418.
Although this manuscript is specifically stated to have been procured by Breynt for the
shrine, it was not the only book he acquired for the abbey. Hereford Cathedral holds a
fourteenth-century compendium of religious and moral texts."*” It is inscribed on the back

120. Luxford 2019, 215.

121. SAL, Ms 136C.

122. TNA, PRO, PROB 11/583/346.

123. For John Somers’ library, see the catalogue, BL,, Add Mss 40751—2.

124. SAL, Minutes, XXV, 544 (28 Jan 1796).

125. Pearce 1916, 114.

126. WAM 19653—9; Pearce 1916, 115. In the 15th century, London became a well-known recluse at
Westminster, in which capacity Henry v sought his advice on the day of his father’s death in the
Jerusalem Chamber at Westminster and his own accession, see Payne 2022.

127. Hereford Cathedral Library, Ms O.VI.7.
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Fig 12. Endpaper of a pamphlet on relics under ultra violet light, SAL, Ms 136C. Image: reproduced
with the permission of the Society of Antiquaries of London.

cover ‘Iohannes Breynt’, with another inscription declaring that it was acquired by him
‘et pertinent ad communia armaria [Westm’]’."28

Where Breynt acquired SAL Ms 136C in 1399 is not stated, but we may speculate as to
why he did, and why he presented it to the shrine. The verso of the original opening folio,
fol 41v, is blank. Fol 42, which on the current arrangement would have formed the next
folio, contains 241 lines of a mid-fourteenth-century Anglo-Norman redaction of the
popular thirteenth-century anonymous poem, the Ordene de chevalerie, a chivalric poem

128. For this manuscript, see Mynors and Thomson 1993, 41-2. It seems to have made its way to
Hereford by the mid-15th century. The manuscript does not contain the reference system
apparent in several other communal books (see Hereford Cathedral Library, Ms O.4.V1, a 13th-
century copy of Epistolae Apostoli Pauli glossate; a 13th-century fragment of Gratiani decretum,
now Edinburgh University Library, Ms Laing 11.515; a 12th-century copy of St Augustine’s De
consensu evangelistarum, BL, Ms Egerton 3775; a 12th-century St Jerome, De viris illustribus,
BL, Royal Ms 5 B.vii; or a 12th-century copy of the letters of Gilbert Foliot and other works,
Bodleian, Ms e Mus. 249). This system involved a leading letter (‘M’ or ‘S’ are the only ones that
survive, perhaps reflecting the middle or left-hand cupboard), followed by a Roman numeral,
with the form ‘pe et ed West’ [St Peter and St Edward Westminster] after. This might suggest
that this system only came into place after Hereford Cathedral Library, Ms O.VI.7 had left the
abbey, a point at which the abbey appears to have built a new library (and devised a new
reference system?); see Sharpe et al 1996, 611. For the earlier arrangement, see Robinson and
James 1909, 3—4.
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following the capture of Prince Hue de Tabarie by Saladin before the Third Crusade, and
the subsequent moralising on the form of knighthood.”®® The poem survives in at least ten
manuscripts.’3° This fragment provides about one-half of the final poem. The poem was, in
Keith Busby’s words, ‘one of the earliest vernacular texts to treat in detail the theory of
knighthood’, representing ‘a growing awareness of the historical and literary need to
explain the duties and functions of the knight in Christian terms’.’3" In it, the poet tried to
‘assign knighthood to its proper place in Christian society’.'3?

The next reordered folios (fols 39r—4o0r), which would have sat after an unknown
number of bifolia stitched in between, contain a brief treatise on the making of knights of
the Order of the Bath, ‘L.’Ordonnance et maniere de creer et faire nouveaulx chevaliers du
Baing’. This treatise was evidently popular, and a large number of copies of it survive,'33
but no other copy is known from before the fifteenth century (the earliest being perhaps
BL, Add Ms 34801, of the early fifteenth century). The provenance of the Society of
Antiquaries’ manuscript suggests the ceremonial of creating a knight in this way began
somewhat earlier than the reign of Henry 1v that has traditionally been ascribed to it. The
process of knighthood, and the role of bathing as part of the ceremony, appears to have
been longstanding.’34 Westminster Abbey played a leading role in the ceremony. In 1306,
for example, Edward 1, in preparation for his last campaign in Scotland, summoned nobles
to come to Westminster to obtain knighthood. According to the Flores Historiarum, some
300 obeyed the summons, and thronged first to the Palace of Westminster, and then to the
abbey for the Feast of Pentecost.’5 Foremost among them was the king’s son, Edward,
who was duly knighted. He then in turn knighted his followers, but such was the pressure
from the crowd before the high altar, that two prospective knights died and many more
fainted. The prince had therefore to conduct the investiture at the high altar. From the late
fourteenth century, the creation of knights was closely bound with the coronation service,
itself inextricably linked with the high altar and shrine at Westminster. All of which
suggests a particular relevance in this text for Breynt and the abbey.

129. For this poem, and its manuscripts, see Busby 1983, 76, and 1984, 34; Ker 1969.

130. BL, Harley Ms 4333 fols 87r—9ov contain a version compiled by Fr William Herebert of Hereford
(d 1333) and Harley Ms 4333 fols 115r—117v a portion of a late 13th-century French version; BL,
Add Ms 34114, a copy owned by Henry Despenser, bishop of Norwich at the end of the 14th
century; Gonville and Caius College, Cambridge, MS 424/448; Cambridge University Library,
Ms Gg.6.28, an early 15th-century copy collected with a number of other poems of a similar
nature; Harvard University Library, Cambridge, Ms Typ 130H.

131. Busby 1983, 88.

132. Ibid, 87.

133. They include BL, Add Ms 34801, fols 30r—35v, within a collection of chivalric and heraldic
treatises and verse compiled of the early 15th century, possibly made for John Mowbray, Earl
Marshal in 1405 and Duke of Norfolk from 1424; BL, Lansdowne Ms 2835, fols 7v—9v, a late 15th-
century copy made for John Paston, together with material on coronation and chivalry (compiled
and written for Paston by the scribe William Ebesham, who was based in Westminster, and
undertook work for the abbot, see Doyle 1957); Bodleian, MS Ashmole 764, fols gor-97v, of the
third quarter of the 15th century; a late 15th-century copy, Bodleian Library, Oxford, MS Douce
271, fols r35-47v; BL, Cotton MS Domitian A.xviii, fols 243r-247r, late 15th century; College of
Arms, London, MS 1.5, fols 28r-30v, 16th century. English versions also survive, for example BL,
Cotton MS Nero C.ix, fols 169v-170v. It was printed by Anstis as Observations Introductory to an
Historical Essay Upon the Knighthood of the Bath in 1725, 106. See Way 1848.

134. See Perkins 1920, 21

135. Luard 1890, iii, 131-2.
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Fig 13. Fragment of a pamphlet on relics, SAL, Ms 136C. Image: reproduced with the permission of
the Society of Antiquaries of London.

The final page of the quire, fol 40v, contains a description of how the relic of the
Holy Blood came to be taken by Thierry of Alsace from the Patriarch of Jerusalem in
the Holy Land to Bruges in 1148, and of indulgences granted in relation to this (fig 13). The
Holy Blood relic at Bruges was one of the most celebrated examples of its kind, the church
that housed it becoming a major focus of pilgrimage,3® but more importantly for
Westminster, its origins in twelfth-century Jerusalem meant that it was ‘the only other relic
in Europe that lent support to Westminster’s claim that the patriarchs of Jerusalem had
been in possession of a portion of the Holy Blood prior to 1247°.37 Writing also in the
1390s, Westminster’s most brilliant scholar, Fr William Sudbury, devoted particular
attention to the Bruges relic in a treatise on the Holy Blood relic, Tractatus de sanguine christi
precioso, dedicated to Richard 11.3® Sudbury cites a number of authorities for his description
of the Bruges relic, and Vincent is doubtless correct that Sudbury probably corresponded with
keepers of the chapel of St Basil in Bruges. This manuscript suggests his information may also
have come from other textual sources. The precise date of Sudbury’s work is not known, but it

136. See Vincent 2001, 134-6.

137. Ibid, 131.

138. The text survives in one late 15th-century copy, Longleat House, Ms 38, fols 256v—308v. For this
treatise, see Vincent 2001, 123-36.
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must have been after his return to Westminster from Oxford in 1387.3° In the surviving
manuscript, Sudbury’s treatise on the authenticity of the Holy Blood relic is preceded by
another treatise on the abbey’s rights of sanctuary, Objectiones et argumenta contra et pro
privilegiis sanctuarii Westmonasterii, which was almost certainly also written by Sudbury.'#° This
formed part of a period of active work to promote and reinforce the abbey’s interests. Huge
sums were spent on the acquisition of royal charters confirming the abbey’s privileges and
liberties.™" At about the same time, a parchment placard was drawn up, doubtless for display
at some prominent spot within the abbey, with extracts from early royal charters touching on
the rights to sanctuary.™* Whether Sudbury’s work on the relics inspired the procurement of
texts on relevant subjects, or whether the texts themselves formed source material for Sudbury,
must be open to question.™3

We do not know what other treatises the quire included, but it seems plausible that they
would also have related to either relics or chivalric practices, with a special relevance to
Westminster, and specifically to the high altar and shrine. This suggests that the
manuscript itself was assembled with Westminster in mind, if not indeed on commission
from Breynt (perhaps with advice from Sudbury). While this may not be the quire referred
to in the later fifteenth-century inventories as ‘of pe relyquys’, the surviving fragmentary
contents and the original location of the manuscript make this a possibility.

THE GATHERING OF MANUSCRIPTS

By the mid-fifteenth century the shrine keeper of Westminster Abbey had assembled a
small assortment of texts to complement the collection of relics and other paraphernalia
stored at the shrine. These texts were gathered to assist the functioning of the chapel, and
to enhance the understanding of the sacred space and its contents. The liturgical
manuscripts required for divine office were supplemented by several works fulfilling a

139. Pearce 1916, 113; Emden 1958, 111, 1813; Hector and Harvey 1982, xxxvi—xxxviii.

140. This section of the manuscript is in the hand of William Ebesham, see note 133 above; Longleat
House, Ms 38, fols gr—256v. Sudbury also composed a treatise on the coronation regalia, which
was included by his fellow monk Richard de Cirencester in his Speculum Historiale de Gestis
Regum Anglie (Cambridge University Library, Ms Ff.1.28). Sudbury’s other literary works
included a major index to the works of St Thomas Aquinas, BL, Royal MS 9 F.iv; and a
concordance of Jacobus de Voragine, Bibliothéque Municipal, Bordeaux, Ms 286. On 4 May
1399 Sudbury received a papal indult to possess for life any books, jewels or money provided that
they be preserved for the monastery after his death, Calendar of Papal Registers, v, 197.

141. The main royal charter is WAM 6234, issued on 18 Dec 1393; see Calendar of Charter Rolls, Vv,
340-2. Although not finished with the initial, it does bear a great seal encased in costly seal bag.
The abbey’s payments to obtain the royal charter are set out in the treasurer’s account roll,
WAM 19879. Many of the royal clerks involved are named, as well as their roles in amending the
bills, transcribing evidence in the cause (charters from the time of Henry 11 etc), for letters of
privy seal and copies (for one of which, see WAM 1585), for the great seal (£8 10s 8d) and its wax
(20d), to John Scarle, the Clerk of the Parliament, for writing the new charter, to John Burton,
Master of the Rolls, for enrolling the results, and over £145 in ‘divers other gifts’. In total the
abbey spent about £170 securing the charter. The following week, the abbey gave the king and
queen two gold cups worth £58 as a Christmas gift.

142. BL, Add Ch 15895.

143. In support of the authenticity of Westminster’s Holy Blood relic, Sudbury also used an entry in
the Polychronicon, a copy of which, as we have seen, was also available at the shrine, see Vincent
2001, 133.
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different function. The instigation for this possibly lay in the arrival from St Albans of the
formative text of the Flores Historiarum in time for the abbey’s rededication in 1269. As
such, it may have acted as a form of ‘offering’ to the abbey, and to the Confessor himself. In
the following years the chronicle was maintained at Westminster, and its calendar
continued to be annotated with important royal anniversaries until the mid-fifteenth
century.

In due course, other texts joined it. A more up to date chronicle, a copy of the
Polychronicon, was probably added towards the end of the fourteenth century. A composite
manuscript of treatises on relics and chivalry was acquired by the shrine keeper in 1399.
Each of these works would have assisted the shrine keeper in understanding the context of
his charges, and the events and ceremonial associated with the space. The books were also
used by other monks. In the 1390s Fr William Sudbury may have used the treatises on
relics as source material for his own work. When Fr John Flete came to compile his history
of the abbey in the 1440s, he consulted and cited both the Flores and the Polychronicon.'4
His work combines historical material relating to Westminster with a protracted relic list,
echoing the material held by the shrine keeper. Although not a shrine keeper himself, he did
serve as one of the wardens of Queen Eleanor’s manors from 1443—56; his counterpart in
office acted as the shrine keeper. Flete’s slightly later copyist, Fr Richard Sporley, also
consulted the Flores manuscript,™35 but none of the resulting texts are known to have been
kept, like their source material, at the shrine itself, despite their focus on relics and the role
of the shrine. Nor did other chronicle material, like that actively compiled at the abbey
firstly by John de Reading, himself a shrine keeper, in the 1360s, and then possibly by Fr
Richard Exeter up to 1394, find a place at the shrine (unless the latter was seen as simply a
continuation, and therefore classified under the same heading, as the note in Bodleian, Ms
Bodley 341 suggests).™#® All of which suggests that the shrine and the Confessor’s chapel
acted as a focal point not only for the religious activities of the abbey, but as its historical
centre for texts acquired from outside the abbey, authoritative sources for works produced
in-house by the community that could in turn be kept and consulted elsewhere.

This centring of the shrine area as the source of historical authority may have been
cemented in the late fourteenth century, a period of dramatic change and development in
the abbey, inspired by renewed royal patronage. Regular visits to the abbey by Richard 11,
both for prayer (especially during critical moments) and to entertain distinguished visitors,
greatly increased the visibility and responsibility of the shrine keeper. They were matched
by lavish gifts made by the king.™7 In January 1386 Richard 11 led the visiting king of
Armenia to the shrine to inspect the relics and regalia.'#® Physical changes in the chapel also
acted to demarcate the space. The insertion of tombs on the south side of the chapel for
Queen Philippa (completed by 1376), Edward 111 (apparently still in construction in 1386)
and finally for Richard 11 and Anne of Bohemia themselves (1395-8), effectively sealed it off
from the rest of the abbey, and confirmed the space as a royal mausoleum.™® This must
have necessitated other practical rearrangements of the relics and associated paraphernalia.

144. Robinson 1909, 100-1, 103, 108, 119, 146. A note in the shrine Flores and in Flete’s history both
wrongly give the date for the death of Abbot Herbert as 1140, ibid, 141.

145. See Payne and Rodwell 2018, 197-201.

146. For Exeter’s possible role, see Hector and Harvey 1982, xl—xliii.

147. See Hector and Harvey 1982, lv, 200-2; Saul 1996. In May 1389 the king gave to the shrine a
large set of vestments, frontals and other highly decorated textiles: CCR: 1341-1417, 311.

148. Hector and Harvey 1982, 154—6.

149. The literature on the tombs is of course extensive. In summary, see Duffy 2003.
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The scholarly investigations of Sudbury, and the accompanying acquisition of texts,
were also prompted by issues of security, and the rights and status of the abbey that
enshrined them. The murder of the knight Robert Hauley in 1378, who had claimed
sanctuary in the abbey, shocked both the monastery and the wider community. The legal
ramifications of the incident were still being felt as late as 1432.5° Hauley and his
companion John Shakell had escaped from the Tower of London, where they had been sent
by John of Gaunt. Having been pursued to Westminster, the two knights took refuge in the
abbey, but Hauley was cut down in the choir during high mass, in front of the prior’s stall.
The threat to the abbey’s rights that this outrage manifested prompted the ‘writing of the
privileges over the door of the church’.’5* Four years later rioting L.ondoners broke into the
abbey and ‘forcibly dragged away from that holy spot’ and beheaded Richard Imworth,
steward of the Marshalsea, ‘who had fled to safety to the church of Westminster and was
clinging to the columns of the shrine’.’5* The abbey must have felt violated, and its security
under increased threat. The need to assert its long-held rights to a sympathetic monarch
was self-evident.

CONCLUSION

The gathering of a range texts at the shrine was part of the process of affirming the abbey’s
status. They provided the historical evidence required to support the abbey’s claims over its
rights and the authenticity of its relics. At the same time, the very act of locating those texts
in the most sacred part of the abbey gave the manuscripts themselves still further
significance and authority. It was to them that the monks turned when compiling their own
histories. Their association with the shrine turned the manuscripts into objects with their
own sacred authority.

The texts also fulfilled an allied function, serving to support the shrine’s role as a focal
point to visitors and pilgrims. In the visits paid to the shrine by royal and noble dignitaries,
they provided a recourse to which the shrine keeper could turn for authoritative answers.
By the late fifteenth century, they also demonstrate that the shrine was not the singular
preserve of the community and royalty. William Caxton’s advice to his readers, and John
Leland’s description of his own visit, demonstrate that the Confessor’s chapel was in theory
accessible to a far wider proportion of the population. Pilgrims, of course, descended upon
the abbey in great numbers, but in 1477 we are told ‘there is a continual concourse to the
said monastery for the hearing of divine offices, as the most convenient place or church,
both of natives, and of strangers who come to the said realm ... wherefore the monks and
ministers of the said monastery cannot continue divine worship without great labour’.'s3
To all of them, when necessary, the shrine keepers could turn to his key texts to assert the

150. See WAM Muniment Book 1, fols 88v—89r; Perroy 1951; Rogers 1962—3. The incident centred
on the ransom claimed for the capture of the count of Denia at the Battle of Najera in 1367 by
Hauley and Richard Chamberlain (whose rights Shakell inherited). The count left his son as
hostage for the ransom, but then refused to pay.

151. WAM 19637. The unnamed scribe was paid 4s 6d.

152. Hector and Harvey 1982, 9.

153. From a papal indult issued in 1477, in response to a petition from Abbot Estney, Calendar of
Papal Registers, X11, 581.
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abbey’s rights, answer questions and point to the fundamental authority for the abbey’s
relics, texts imbued with greater significance by the manuscripts’ very location in the sacred

heart of the abbey.
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Thomas Becket at Canterbury Cathedral,
1428

BL, Ms Egerton 3775, St Augustine, De consensu
evangelistarum copy, twelfth-century

BL, Cotton Ms Cleopatra A.xvi, fols 69-195,
chronicle by John de Reading, 1360s

BL, Cotton Ms Claudius A.viii, Fr John Felix, a
short life of Abbot Estney

BL, Cotton Ms Domitian A.xviii, fols 243r-
2471, ‘L’Ordonnance et maniere de creer et
faire nouveaulx chevaliers du Baing’, late
sixteenth century

BL, Cotton Ms Julius F.ix, royal pedigree by Fr
Thomas Gardyner, early sixteenth century

BL, Cotton Ms Nero C.ix, fols 169v—-170V,
‘L’Ordonnance et maniere de creer et

faire nouveaulx chevaliers du Baing’, in
English

BL, Cotton Ms Otho C.ii, Flores Historiarum

BL, Cotton Ms Otho D.ii, miscellanea relating
to crusades and the Holy Land

BL, Harley Ms 4333, versions of Ordene de
chevalerie

BL, Harley Ms 4431, Christine de Pizan’s works

BL, Lansdowne Ms 285, John Paston, chivalric
manuscripts

BL, Royal Ms 2 A.xxii, Westminster Psalter

BL, Royal Ms 5§ B.vii, St Jerome, De wiris
tllustribus, twelfth-century

BL, Royal Ms 9 F.iv, index to the works of St
Thomas Aquinas

BL, Royal Ms 19 A. xxii, Jean de Meun, Sept
articles de la foy, 1440s

BL, Royal Ms 14 C.xiii,. Polychronicon, with
Marco Polo, De Conditionibus et consuetudi-
nibus orientalium regionum

Bodleian, Ms Ashmole 764, fols 9or—97v,
‘L’Ordonnance et maniere de creer et faire
nouveaulx chevaliers du Baing’

Bodleian, Ms Douce 271, fols r35—47v,
‘L’Ordonnance et maniere de creer et faire
nouveaulx chevaliers du Baing’

Bodleian, Ms e Mus. 249, copy of the letters of
Gilbert Foliot and other works, 12th-century

Bodleian, Ms Bodley 46, Distinctiones fratriis
Mauricii

Bodleian, Ms Bodley 264, Romance of Alexander,
fourteenth-century
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Bodleian, Ms Bodley 341, Polychronicon, to 1327

Bodleian, Ms Bodley 456, Richard Rolle,
Emendatio vitae, and Hugo Ripelinus,
Compendium veritaties theologicae

Bodleian, Ms Digby 196, Miscellanea multa,
praesertim historica, fifteenth century

Bodleian, MS Fairfax 20, ‘Cronica
Westmonaster’

Bodleian, Ms Rawl.C.425, Pontifical

Bodleian, Ms Rawlinson liturg. g.10, collection
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Calendar of Charter Rolls: 1257-1300, 11, 411

Calendar of Charter Rolls: 13411417, ¥ 340—2

Calendar of Papal Registers, V, 197, papal indult
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Calendar of Papal Registers, X1, §81, petition
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Cambridge, Corpus Christi College, MS 197A,
chronicles

Cambridge, Gonville and Caius College, Ms
424/448, Ordene de chevalerie

Cambridge, Pembroke College,
Gower, Confessio Amantis

Cambridge, Trinity College, Ms O.7.37, medi-
cal texts

Cambridge, Trinity College, MsS
Thomas Aquinas, De Veritate

Cambridge University Library, ms Dd.l.17,
collection of historical works, fourteenth

Ms 307,

0.8.30,

century
Cambridge University Library, ms Dd.VIIL.7,
Polychronicon, with Marco Polo, De

Conditiomibus et consuetudinibus orientalium
regionum, fourteenth century

Cambridge University Library, Ms Ff.1.28,
Richard de Cirencester, Speculum
Historiale de Gestis Regum Anglie

Cambridge University Library, Ms (Gg.6.28,
copy of Ordene de chevalerie with other
similar poems, early fifteenth-century

Canterbury Cathedral, Ms Y.ax, Westminster
Abbey vestry inventory, 1388

CCR 1341-1417

CCR 13859

CCR 1399-1402

Chetham Library, Manchester, MS 6712, Flores
Historiarum, to 1327

College of Arms, London, Ms 1.5, fols 28r—30v,
‘L’Ordonnance et maniere de creer et faire
nouveaulx chevaliers du Baing’, 16th century

CPR 1391-6

CPR 1396—9

Edinburgh University Library, Ms Laing 11.515,
fragment of Granani decretum, thirteenth-
century

Harvard University Library, Cambridge, MS
Typ 130H, Ordene de chevalerie

Hereford Cathedral
miscellanea

Hereford Cathedral Library, Ms O.4.VI, Epistolae
Apostoli Pauli glossate copy, 13th-century

ISTC, ia00386000

ISTGC, ijoo264000

ISTC, imoo719200

John Rylands Library, Manchester, Ms Lat. 165

Lambeth Palace Library, London, Ms
Arc.L.40.2/E.25, Gospel of Nicodemus

Longleat House, Ms 38, fols 256v—308, William
Sudbury, Tractatus de sanguine christi precioso

Oxford, Balliol College, Ms 142, Ovid’s
Metamorphoses copy, fifteenth century

Oxford, Balliol College, Ms 264, David of
Augsburg, Forma Religiosorum

Oxford, St John’s College, Ms 190, miscellany
of theological works, mid thirteenth-century

Pierpont Morgan Library, New York, Ms
M.126, Gower, Confessio Amantis

SAL, Ms 136C, miscellany

SAL, Minutes, XXV, 544

Stanford University Library, Codex 0877,
Prayerbook of Elizabeth of York

TNA, PRO, CP40/826, Court of Common
Pleas, 1468

TNA, PRO, LR/2/111, fols 8-27, Dissolution
inventory

TNA, PRO, PROB 11/9/138, Will of John
Veysey, 1492

TNA, PRO, PROB 11/583/346,, Will of Nathan
Wright, 1721

WAM 1585, confirmation from Richard 11 to
Westminster Abbey of privileges, 1393

WAM 5456, notarial instrument for the removal
of Abbot Norwich, 1467

WAM 6234, confirmation from Richard 11 to
Westminster Abbey of privileges, 1393

WAM 6603, inventory of the goods of Richard
Exeter, prior of Westminster, ¢ 1397

WAM 9477, inventory of Fr Thomas Arundel,
shrine keeper, 1467

WAM 9478, inventory of Fr
Tedyngton, shrine keeper, 1479

WAM 9479, inventory of Fr Thomas Clifford,
warden of the Lady Chapel, 1483

WAM 9485, inventory of Fr William Grene,
shrine keeper, 1520

WAM 13193, royal ordinance for Westminster
Abbey to take possession of St Martin le
Grand, 1503

WAM 19346, infirmarer’s account, 1368—9

WAM 19618-198009, sacrists’ rolls, 1317-1535

WAM 19867, treasurer’s accounts

WAM 19879, treasurer’s account roll

WAM 23193, account of the warden of the Lady

Chapel, 13934

Library, Ms O.VL7y,

Richard
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WAM 23263, account of the warden of the Lady
Chapel, 14912

WAM 23298, account of the warden of the Lady
Chapel, 15212

WAM 23304, account of the warden of the
Lady Chapel, 15278

WAM 23533%, account of the warden of the new
work, 1468—9

WAM 24265%, abbot’s account, 1383—4

WAM 33291, abbot’s account, 1496—7

WAM 33288, Memoranda of Prior Mane,
15013

WAM 33293 sub-sacrist account book, 1505—9

WAM 33327, kitchener’s accounts, 1516—17

WAM 33328, kitchener’s accounts, 1517-18

WAM 33329, kitchener’s accounts, 1520-1

WAM 51113, inventory of regalia, 1359
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APPENDIX 1: SHRINE KEEPERS OF WESTMINSTER ABBEY!**

With details of their term as warden of Queen Eleanor’s manors in brackets

¢ 1310 Thomas de la Dene
1338 William de Staunton
1338 John Payn (1334—42)
1338 Richard de Abindo
1346-7 John Payne (1334-42)
13614 John de Redyng
1379-80 Peter Combe (1377-80)
13823 John Farnago (1380-3)
13857 Robert Adelard (1383—-7)
1387 Richard Cirencester
1387-8 William Halle (1387-8)
1388—90 John London (1388-90)
13901 John Eynston (1390-1)
13913 John London (1391-3)
1393—1401 John Breynte (1393-1401)
1407-8 Robert Harmondesworth (1405-10)
14226 Walter Coggeshall (1410-16, 1418—26)
14267 R Shiplake (1426—7)
142731 W Surreys (1427-31)
14313 William Walsh (1431-3)
1433—6 John Venour (1433-6)
14367 John Wilton (1436-7)
1437-8 John Cambridge (1438-9)
1440-1 Richard Breynt (1439—43)
1444-5 John Wilton (1441-6)
144650 Bartholomew Massham (1446-50)
1450-7 John Estney (1450-7)
1457-60 John Ramsey (1457-62)
1462 Robert Essex (1462—4)
1462—4 William Wycombe
1464—7 Richard Tedyngton (1464-8)
1467 Thomas Arundel
1467 Richard Tedyngton (1464-8, 1472—4, 1477-80)
1479 John Waterden
1481 Ralph Langley (1480-1)
1482 John Holand (1482-8)
1488 William Mane (1488-93)
1492 Richard Newbery (1493-9)
1498 Thomas Ely (1499-1500)
1501 Richard Caxton (1501-3)
(Continued)

154. The majority of references to the name of the shrine keeper are to be found in the accounts of the
sacrist of Westminster Abbey (WAM 19618-19809). He is often — although not always — named
under the section recording offerings from the shrine and elsewhere in the abbey.
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(Continued)
1504 Martin James
1506 William Fenne'ss (1504-6)
1507 William Westminster
1513 William Grene
1520 Henry Winchester
1528 John Langham

155. Fenne is mentioned as keeper of the shrine at this date in an account book of the sub-sacrist:
WAM 33293.
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